IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 93062-7

(Court of Appeals No. 46774-7-II)

D. NORMAN FERGUSON AND KAREN FERGUSON

Petitioners,

v.

ALLEN MCKENZIE AND JANE MCKENZIE,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph A. Grube, WSBA No. 26476 Karen K. Orehoski, WSBA No. 35855 Breneman Grube Orehoski, PLLC 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 625 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-5975 Attorneys for Petitioners

Cynthia Jones, WSBA No. 38120 Jones Legal Group, LLC 1425 Broadway Suite 544 Seattle WA 98122 (206) 972-4943 Attorney for Petitioners

E.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. Introduction
	2. Relevant Facts
F.	ARGUMENTS FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 5
	1. Summary of Argument 5
	 Imposition of RAP 18.9 Sanctions for an Appeal Containing Debatable Issues Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and All Divisions of the Court of Appeals. Legal Authority.
	i. The Five Principles this Court Considers to Determine Whether an Appeal is Frivolous
	ii. History of RAP 18.9 and the Subsequent Case Development Adopting the Five Principles
	b. The Fergusons Appealed an Issue of Mixed Law and Fact.
	3. Imposition of RAP 18.9 Sanctions for an Appeal Containing Debatable Issues Chills the Right to Appeal, Triggering an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that should be Determined by this Court
C	CONCLUSION 10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 170 Wn.2d 577 (2010)		
Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212 (1986)		
Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210 (1992)		
CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC, 180 Wn.App. 379 (Div. 2, 2014)		
Daubner v. Mills, 61 Wn.App. 678 (Div. 3, 1991)		
Green River Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd., 107 Wn.2d 427 (1986)		
Millers Casualty Insurance Co., of Texas v. Briggs, 100 Wn.2d 9 (1983)		
Proctor v. Huntington, 146 Wn.App. 836 (Div. 3, 2010)		
Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007)		
State v. Rowe, 93 Wn.2d 277 (1980)		
Streater v. White, 26 Wn.App. 430 (Div. 1, 1980)		
Tiffany Family Tr. Corp. v. City of Kent, 155 Wn.2d 225 (2005)		

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Imposition of Terms and Compensatory Damages in Frivolous Appeals 34 Wash. St. B. News 46 1980
Will Video Kill the Trial Courts' Star?: How "Hot" Records will Change the Appellate Process, 19 ALB. L.J. SCI & TECH. 449 (2009)
COURT RULES
CR 11 8
RAP 1.2(a)
RAP 2.2
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 18.1(b)
RAP 18.7 8
RAP 18.9 passim
TREATISES
3 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 18.79
3 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 18.9

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

73

Petitioners D. Norman Ferguson and Karen Ferguson, the appellants below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Opinion in *Ferguson v. McKenzie*, 2016 WL 900921 (Div. 2, 2016) filed March 1, 2016, and subsequent denial of motion for reconsideration, filed March 24, 2016. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-9. A copy of the order denying Fergusons-Petitioners' motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-10. A copy of the ruling awarding attorney fees and costs (as sanctions under RAP 18.9) is in the Appendix at page A-11.

C. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

The opinion in *Ferguson v. McKenzie* conflicts with the decisions of this Court, the Divisions of the Court of Appeals and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May RAP 18.9(b) sanctions be imposed for an allegedly frivolous issue when an appeal presents:
 - (a) Review of a debatable legal issue;

- (b) The Acting Chief Judge dissents from the decision awarding sanctions because he "cannot agree the Fergusons' [Petitioners'] appeal" is frivolous; and,
- (c) The remaining two appellate judges do not apply the analysis set out and adopted by this Court for determining when an appeal is frivolous under RAP 18.9.
- 2. Whether an appellate court errs when it fails to review an adverse possession claim under the standard of "a question of mixed law and fact" but instead reviews the claim under an abuse of discretion standard to find the appeal frivolous and with one judge dissenting from that frivolous finding.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Introduction

-

This case started when the Fergusons (Petitioners) disputed a boundary line with their neighbors, the McKenzies. Opinion at 1. The Fergusons sought to quiet title and adjust their property to include a strip of land claimed through adverse possession. After a bench trial, the trial court entered judgment in favor of the McKenzies. *Id.* The trial court did not find the action to be frivolous, and there were no attorney fees awarded. The Fergusons appealed. On March 1, 2016, the trial court's decision was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Appendix A-1. But the Court of Appeals, with the Acting Chief Judge dissenting, went a step further and by a two-to-one vote sided with the McKenzies that the Fergusons-Petitioners' appeal was frivolous. Opinion at 11. On March 21, 2016, the Fergusons filed a

motion for reconsideration to the appellate court. On March 24, 2016, Judge Melnick and Judge Sutton denied the motion and Acting Chief Judge Bjorgen dissented from the denial of the motion. Appendix A-10. On April 1, 2016, the court commissioner issued a ruling awarding attorney fees and costs. Appendix A-11. The Fergusons-Petitioners now seek acceptance of their petition from this Court for discretionary review.

2. Relevant Facts

On June 3, 2011, the Fergusons brought an action seeking to quiet title by way of an adverse possession claim to a disputed strip of land between their property and the McKenzies' property. Opinion at 1. The trial court found the Fergusons did not prove the elements of adverse possession by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* Further, the trial court found the McKenzies more credible on issues of contradiction between the parties. *Id.* The Fergusons timely appealed.

In its briefing below, the Fergusons asked the appellate court to review the trial court's findings based on admitted photographic evidence, arguing that under *Bering v. SHARE*, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220 (1986) the appellate court was not bound by the trial court's findings because the findings were inconsistent with the photographic evidence presented at trial and therefore not supported by substantial evidence. Appellants' Reply Brief at 4, 20-21.

Similarly, the Fergusons pointed to specific photographic evidence, for

example Exhibit 42, to argue more than one interpretation of the photographic evidence was possible and that interpretation could be reviewed de novo on appeal. Appellants' Opening Brief at 19, 33. The appellate court included the trial court's finding on this issue in its entirety in the opinion, specifically the trial court's Finding 22. In relevant part, it reads "One could argue that the [disputed] area is cleared through to the trees, as trees can be seen. But one could equally argue that because it is impossible to tell from the picture, specifically as it relates to angle and depth, how much shrubbery has been cleared below the windowsill... [it] is difficult to tell from this exhibit [42]." Opinion at 4.

The appellate court disagreed with the Fergusons on the point of law in *Bering* and found "*Bering*'s rule is inapplicable to this case." Opinion at 8. And, in a two-to-one decision, the appellate court found the "Fergusons' appeal is frivolous because the appeal presented no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds could differ, and each argument the Fergusons presented was so devoid of merit that there is no possibility for reversal." Opinion at 11. The appellate court ultimately awarded, as a sanction under RAP 18.9, \$32,992.19 in appellate attorney fees to the McKenzies, plus \$317.17 in costs. Opinion at 11; Appendix at A-11.1

¹ The Fergusons-Petitioners did not object to the amount of attorney fees requested because the amount of fees supported by affidavit in light of the high level of experience of opposing counsel did not seem unreasonable, rather the Petitioners-Fergusons believe the appellate court's award of

The third judge, Acting Chief Judge Bjorgen, dissented and disagreed that the appeal was frivolous, writing that:

Although I agree with the majority to affirm the merits of the trial court's decision, I cannot agree that the Fergusons' appeal presents "no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and [that the appeal] is so totally devoid of merit that there [is] no reasonable possibility of reversal." *Tiffany Family Tr. Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d 225, 241, 119 P.3d 325 (2005). Therefore, I dissent from the award of attorney fees to the McKenzies on appeal.

Opinion at 11.

F. ARGUMENTS FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Summary of Argument

The sole issue here is whether this Court should review the award of attorney's fees under RAP 18.9 for the filing of a frivolous appeal. The Fergusons presented a debatable issue below in appealing an adverse possession determination which is a mixed question of fact and law. Moreover, the Fergusons argument was based on a debatable legal interpretation of this Court's decision in *Bering v. SHARE*, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220 (1986) which the appellate court below rejected as a matter of law, not fact. And it is significant that Acting Chief Judge Bjorgen agreed and dissented from the award of fees. Opinion at 11. Simply put, as demonstrated below, the appellate court applied a standard inconsistent with the

those fees as sanctions under RAP 18.9 on the shoulders of the Fergusons-Petitioners is entirely wrong.

holdings of this Court and other courts of appeal on the proper application of RAP 18.9. And in so doing, the Court of Appeals effectively chilled the right of appeal contrary to this Court's holdings.

The Fergusons do not ask this Court to disturb the appellate court's holding on the merits below or to revisit the credibility determinations or graphic evidence or even the interpretation of the *Bering* rule. Rather they ask this Court to accept review only on the issue of frivolity on whether the Fergusons presented a debatable issue of law in their appeal

2. Imposition of RAP 18.9 Sanctions for an Appeal Containing Debatable Issues Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and All Divisions of the Court of Appeals.

Whether Fergusons-Petitioners' arguments on appeal are without merit to establish grounds for relief, and whether Fergusons-Petitioners' appeal is frivolous are two separate issues—each entitled to the appellate court's attention on appeal. Without the appropriate analysis, the majority's opinion awarding fees cannot stand simply because Fergusons-Petitioners' arguments may be deficient to obtain reversal on appeal. Should it stand, the decision below will conflict with this Court's precedent and all divisions of the Court of Appeals.

Here, while the appellate court cited to proper authority (Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt Hr'gs Bd. and Streater v. White) it did not apply the proper analysis for determination of whether the Fergusons-

Petitioners' appeal was frivolous under the five principles adopted by this Court. Simply citing to authority without applying analysis is in effect ignoring the standard and thus, the decision is in conflict with the decisions of this Court and decisions of the Court of Appeals under RAP 13.4(b) (1) and (2).

a. Legal Authority

i. The Five Principles this Court Considers to Determine Whether an Appeal is Frivolous.

In the case cited to by Acting Chief Judge Bjorgen, *Tiffany Family Tr. Corp.* v. City of Kent, this Court set out the following five principles to guide itself and lower courts when determining whether an appeal is frivolous: (1) a civil appellant has a right to appeal under RAP 2.2; (2) all doubts as to whether the appeal is frivolous should be resolved in favor of the appellant (here, the Fergusons-Petitioners); (3) the record should be considered as a whole; (4) an appeal that is affirmed simply because the arguments are rejected is not frivolous; and (5) an appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there was no reasonable probability of reversal. *Tiffany Family Tr. Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d. 225, 241 (2005) (internal citations omitted).

ii. History of RAP 18.9 and the Subsequent Case Development Adopting the Five Principles.

When RAP 18.9 was first adopted in 1976, along with the sum of the Rules

of Appellate Procedure, the Task Force noted RAP 18.9 was meant to guide courts with the ultimate goal in mind: to reach appellate cases on their merits. "RAP 18.9 reflects a balance between the basic theme of the rules that appellate cases should be heard on their merits, and a recognition that unstructured appeals would be of great inconvenience to the courts[.] 3 Wash. Prac., Rules of Practice RAP 18.9. This guidance from the task force is reflected in the language of RAP 1.2(a):

Interpretation: These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b).

At one time, the courts held CR 11 applied at the appellate level under RAP 18.7. (3 Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 18.9). In 1994, RAP 18.7 was amended to remove the reference to CR 11 with the following Author's Comments:

Civil Rule 11 was designed for use in the superior courts and specifies sanctions for a failure to comply with the rule. (Rule 11 has also generated a great deal of controversy, including arguments that it has spawned "satellite" litigation.) If sanctions are to be imposed at the appellate level, this should be done pursuant to an appellate rule, not a superior court rule. (See the amendment to RAP 18.9.) The amendment to rule 18.7 strikes the reference to CR 11, so that only sanctions under the RAP's will apply.

3 Wash, Prac., Rules Practice RAP 18.7

1

Despite the removal of CR 11 from the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the

spirit of its application, or more specifically, the Court's refusal to apply it, is instructive here: "[t]he purpose behind CR 11 is to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system," but "the rule is not intended to chill an attorney's enthusiasm or creativity in pursuing factual or legal theories." *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 219 (1992).

Soon after RAP 18.9 was adopted in 1976, *Streater v. White*, 26 Wn.App. 430 (Div. 1, 1980) was decided. The *Streater* decision was the first to promulgate all five principles that today guide decisions on whether appeals are frivolous. When laying out those five principles for the first time, the *Streater* court cited to a 1980 Washington State Bar News article (*Id.* at 435) written by the then-Division I Court of Appeals Commissioner, Larry A. Jordan. 34 Wash. St. B. News 46 1980. Commissioner Jordan began his article with these words:

It might be argued that a frivolous appeal is like pornography: difficult to define but easy to recognize. A frivolous appeal is said to be one "presenting no justiciable question and so readily recognizable as devoid of merit on face of record that there is little prospect that it can ever succeed...or one that "presents no debatable question or no reasonable possibility of reversal, the word [frivolous] meaning of little weight or importance, not worth notice, slight."

Id. (internal citations omitted).

The *Streater* decision concerned an earnest money agreement with an attorney fees clause, *Streater v. White*, 26 Wn.App. at 434. After ruling against the

appellant, the appellate court determined it was constitutionally prohibited from substituting its judgement for that of the trial court in factual matters further stating "[s]ince this is a factual appeal and is totally devoid of merit, we impose \$1,000 as terms and sanctions…" *Id*.

The Supreme Court first adopted these five principles in *Millers Casualty Insurance Co.*, of Texas v. Briggs, 100 Wn.2d 9 (1983). There, two insurance companies battled over paying the insured following a car accident. This Court found the Texas insurance company used the appellate process for purposes of delay under RAP 18.9 and awarded PEMCO terms and compensatory damages.

Since the *Millers Casualty Insurance Co., of Texas* decision, this Court has repeatedly set out the same five principles to guide it and lower courts when determining whether an appeal is frivolous, including the case cited by dissenting Acting Chief Judge Bjorgen, *Tiffany Family Tr. Corp. v. City of Kent,* 155 Wn.2d 225 (2005).

In Tiffany Family Tr. Corp. v. City of Kent, this Court determined a local improvement district (LID) assessment was not a constitutional taking because the family trust failed to follow the proper statutory procedures to challenge the LID assessment. The city of Kent asked this Court to find the family trust's appeal frivolous. Even though the family trust's claims were without merit, this Court refused to find the appeal frivolous after considering the five principles set out in

Streater because "the parties set forth debatable issues." 155 Wn.2d at 241 (citing Green River Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Personnel Bd., 107 Wn.2d 427, 442–43 (1986) (quoting Streater v. White, 26 Wn.App. 430, 434–35 (Div. 1, 1980)).

Five years later, this Court again cited to those same five principles in Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 170 Wn.2d 577, 580 (2010). There, in a per curiam decision, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals imposition of sanctions. The Court of Appeals awarded attorney fees and sanctions pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) because the appellate court found frivolous the argument that the president of a non-profit had standing to represent the non-profit in court. This Court, applying the five principles for determining when an appeal is frivolous (citing to Tiffany Family Trust Corp.) reversed, finding the Court of Appeals erroneously imposed sanctions under RAP 18.9 for filing a frivolous appeal asserting that "While we do not hold that the argument [of Petitioner] has merit, it is not so totally devoid of merit as to be frivolous." Id.

Finally, in a review of Washington cases, Fergusons-Petitioners could find no opinion whereby a court granted fees under RAP 18.9 in an adverse possession action even though the prevailing party so requested. *See Daubner v. Mills*, 61 Wn.App. 678, 684-85 (Div. 3, 1991) (denial of request for sanctions under RAP 18.9 (resolving all doubts in favor of appellant from an adverse possession action,

court "cannot say her appeal presented no debatable issues or possibility of reversal"); *Proctor v. Huntington*, 146 Wn.App. 836, 854 (Div. 2, 2010) (denial of request for sanctions under RAP 18.9 in cross-appeal of adverse possession claim because cross-appellants cited to cases in which easements by estoppel discussed favorably).

b. The Fergusons Appealed an Issue of Mixed Law and Fact.

As discussed *supra*, Fergusons-Petitioners could find no opinion where the courts have awarded attorney fees as sanctions under RAP 18.9 for a frivolous appeal where the underlying claim was an adverse possession action.

In cases where courts have granted an award of sanctions under RAP 18.9, the standard of review on the underlying claim was a purely factual one, an abuse of discretion. For example, in *Streater*, also discussed *supra*, the appellate court considered the bounds of an earnest money agreement and found it an "essentially factual appeal" and that the record did not indicate the "trial court abused its discretion in setting the amount to be awarded [for specific performance pursuant to the earnest money agreement]." *Streater v. White*, 26 Wn.App. at 434-35. The appellate courts should be especially reluctant to issue sanctions for filing a frivolous appeal where the issue on appeal is a mixed question of law and fact, rather than of essentially of fact. The Acting Chief appellate judge's dissent from the award of attorney fees under RAP 18.9 reflects the appropriate reluctance.

Further, the Fergusons-Petitioners requested the appellate court to review photographic evidence de novo in light of the legal principle articulated in *Bering* v. SHARE. Rather than treating that issue as a legal question regarding the application of *Bering* v. SHARE, the appellate court wrongly asserted "the findings challenged were prefaced on [Fergusons-Petitioners'] request" to reweigh the evidence and reevaluate credibility.

More specifically, the Fergusons-Petitioners here asked the appellate court to review more than evidence and credibility, they requested the court review the objective graphic evidence under what Fergusons-Petitioners argued as its interpretation of the *Bering* rule. Opinion at 7. As this Court noted in *Bering*: "this court is not necessarily bound by the trial court's findings when based solely upon written or graphic evidence" 106 Wn.2d 212, 220 (1986) *citing State v. Rowe*, 93 Wn.2d 277 (1980). In *Rowe*, this Court noted: "Where the interpretation of a document must be made from the face of the instrument itself, this court is in as good a position as the trial court to interpret its meanings." *Id.* at 280. The rationale of these conclusions is that certain types of evidence – including the photographic evidence at issue here – can be reviewed de novo on appeal as a basis for overturning a trial court decision as not based on substantial evidence.

The appellate court below refused to apply the *Bering* holding here because the evidence below comprised both testimonial and photographic evidence. The

court in effect rejected the Fergusons-Petitioners request to extend *Bering* to review on appeal of all photographic evidence. The argument advanced by Fergusons-Petitioners, however, was at least debatable and more significantly was a debatable issue of law, not of fact.

Unlike *Streater*, the appellate court here reviewed, addressed, and distinguished an issue of law in its opinion. Simply stated, the appellate court asserted a legal opinion on the interpretation of case law when it stated that the Fergusons-Petitioners misapprehended the *Bering* rule. Opinion 7-8. The argument related to *Bering* advanced by the Fergusons-Petitioners had not been previously squarely rejected and thus was at least debatable.

The appellate court erred in its determination that the appeal contained no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds could differ and it erred in awarding appellate attorney fees as sanctions under RAP 18.9 in the amount of \$32,992.19 - a substantial sum considering the sanctions in today's dollars of roughly \$2,900 awarded in the *Streater* case.

Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr 'gs Bd., 170 Wn.2d 577, 580 (2010), where this Court declined to award attorney fees under RAP 18.9, is very similar to the Fergusons-Petitioners case. There, the Court of Appeals Division Two awarded attorney fees as sanctions under RAP 18.9 because it found frivolous the argument that the president of a non-profit could represent

the non-profit in court. This Court reversed, citing to a case outside its jurisdiction to find that "at least one court in a foreign jurisdiction has allowed non-attorney representation of an environmental organization where the lay representative shared a common interest with the organization." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). This Court went on to say,

While we do not hold that the argument has merit, it is not so totally devoid of merit as to be frivolous. Moreover, even if the issue was frivolous, it did not alone justify the Court of Appeal in awarding sanctions under RAP 18.9(a) because the court specifically acknowledged that the issue of [the representative's] personal standing was not frivolous. Raising at least one debatable issue precludes finding that the appeal as a whole is frivolous.

ld.

160

 \sqrt{f}

In keeping with *Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd.*, here the Fergusons-Petitioners' argument may not have merit - but it is not so totally devoid of merit as to be frivolous. Regardless whether other parts of the Fergusons-Petitioners appeal were frivolous, raising at least one debatable issue precludes finding that the appeal as a whole is frivolous.

Further, the Fergusons-Petitioners raised, at a minimum, at least one debatable issue, that the graphic evidence relied on by the trial court could be reviewed de novo on appeal under the *Bering* rule. Although the appellate court disagreed, this position is not a position totally devoid of merit and is an issue of

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