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

ARGUMENT 

A. The Fergusons overlook cases from this Court and the 
appellate courts awarding fees for a frivolous appeal 
absent unanimity. 

The Fergusons repeatedly suggest that appellate courts may 

not award fees under RAP 18.9 where the court is unanimous on the 

merits, but divided on the fee award. Pet. at 2, 5, 18-19. The 

Fergusons fail to address decisions from this Court and the appellate 

courts awarding fees under RAP 18.9 absent unanimity on the fee 

award. Boyles v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 105 Wn.2d 499, 506-08, 716 

P.2d 869 (1986) (awarding fees under RAP 18.9 over a dissent on 

the fee award); Suarez v. Newquist, 70 Wn. App. 827, 855 P.2d 
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1200 (1993) (reversing and remanding for the imposition of sanctions 

under CR 11 over a dissent on the same); In reMarriage of Healy, 

35 Wn. App. 402, 406, 667 P.2d 114 (1983) (awarding fees under 

RAP 18.9 over a dissent on the fee award). 

It is simply incorrect to suggest that Judge Bjorgen's dissent 

on the fee award is reason to accept review and reverse. Pet. at 2, 

3, 17-18. The appellate majority is consistent with the above cases 

from this Court and the Court of Appeals. Since there is no conflict, 

this Court should deny review. 

B. The appellate court correctly awarded fees for a frivolous 
appeal. 

1. The standard for fees under RAP 18.9 is not 
contested. (Pet. at 7 -12). 

The Fergusons dedicate much of their Petition to addressing 

the standard for awarding fees under RAP 18.9. Pet. at 7-12 

(addressing Streater v. White, 26 Wn. App. 430, 434-35, 613 P.2d 

187 (1980). This point is uncontested. The McKenzies' fee request 

was based on Streater, supra. BR 43-46. 

2. The Fergusons' appeal was nothing more than 
challenges to numerous unfavorable credibility 
determinations and decisions regarding the weight 
given to the evidence. (Pet. at 12-13). 

The Fergusons repeatedly suggest that the fee award is 

improper because adverse possession cases present mixed 
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questions of law and fact. Pet. at 2, 5, 11-12. The Fergusons ignore 

the trial court's correct and unchallenged finding that "the dispute in 

this case was factual." CP 93, FF 4. And the Fergusons' appeal did 

not raise a legal question, as they did not address whether the 

established facts satisfied the elements of adverse possession. BA 

26-33; see also BA 25 setting forth the substantial evidence standard 

of review applied to challenged findings of fact). Rather, their appeal 

asserted that the findings lacked adequate evidentiary support. /d. 

That is, of course, a factual question. 

The Fergusons relatedly argue that "where courts have 

granted an award of sanctions under RAP 18.9, the standard of 

review on the underlying claim was a purely factual one, an abuse of 

discretion." Pet. at 12. Again, the Fergusons' appeal was "purely 

factual"- they asked the appellate court to disbelieve testimony the 

trial court found credible, to believe testimony the trial court found not 

credible, and to review photographs to arrive at a conclusion that the 

trial court rejected. BR 25, 29-42; Unpub. Op. at 10, 11-14, 16. The 

appellate court correCtly declined to "substitute [its] judgment for that 

of the trial court's regarding witness credibility or evidentiary weight." 

Unpub. Op. at 10 (citing Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc., 

153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009)). 
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This is consistent with scores of cases holding that appellate 

courts do not review credibility determinations. See e.g., Morse v. 

Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574-75, 70 P.3d 125 (2003) (holding 

that "credibility determinations are solely for the trier of fact") (citing 

State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)); Bale 

v. Allison, 173 Wn. App. 435, 458, 294 P.3d 789 (2013). It is also 

consistent with numerous holdings that appellate courts will not 

"reweigh or rebalance competing testimony and inferences." Bale, 

173 Wn. App. at 458; Quinn, 153 Wn. App. at 717. 

Instead, the appellate court defers to the trial court's factual 

determinations, even when it may have resolved a factual dispute 

differently. Bale, 173 Wn. App. at 458. This is "especially true" where, 

as here, "the trial court finds the evidence unpersuasive." 173 Wn. 

App. at 458 (emphasis original). It "invades the province of the trial 

court for an appellate court to find compelling that which the trial court 

found unpersuasive." Bale, 173 Wn. App. at 458 (quoting Quinn, 153 

Wn. App. at 717) (emphasis Bale). 

In short, the appellate decision is consistent with scores of 

cases holding that appellate courts "are constitutionally prohibited 

from substituting [their] judgment for that of the trial court in factual 

matters." Streater, 26 Wn. App. at 434-435 (citing Thorndike v. 
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Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959)). 

There is no conflict here. 

3. Bering v. SHARE does not turn the Fergusons' 
factual appeal into a legal one. (Pet. at 12-14). 

Attempting to recast a factual appeal as one presenting a legal 

question, the Fergusons argue that they "asked the appellate court to 

review more than evidence and credibility, they requested the court 

review the objective graphic evidence under what Fergusons-

Petitioners argued as its interpretation of the Bering rule." Pet. at 13 

(referring to Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 

(1986)). This grossly overstates the Ferguson's reliance on Bering 

before the appellate court. But the appellate decision is consistent with 

Bering in any event. This Court should deny review. 

For the first time in their Reply brief, the Fergusons cited Bering 

for the proposition that "an appellate court is not necessarily bound by 

the trial court's findings when based solely on written or graphic 

evidence." Reply at 4-5 (quoting 106 Wn.2d at 220). Without elaboration 

- or support - the Fergusons later suggested that Bering may allow 

appellate courts to review credibility determinations. Reply at 20. 

Bering is now a principal basis of the Fergusons' Petition. Pet. at 3, 4, 

5, 6, 13, 14, 15. 
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Although the argument was not articulated in their opening or 

reply briefs on appeal, the Fergusons now claim that they raised a 

legal question, asking the appellate court "to extend Bering to review 

on appeal of all photographic evidence." Pet. at 14. But the 

Fergusons' appeal was not "of all photographic evidence." /d. Again, 

the Fergusons asked the appellate court to review the trial court's 

many credibility determinations, directly implicating the live testimony 

before the trial court. Unpub. Op. at 10, 11-14, 16. It is simply 

incorrect to suggest that the Fergusons were only asking the 

appellate court to review photographs. Pet. at 14. Nor could Bering 

logically permit an appellate court to ignore the live testimony before 

the trial court and review "documentary evidence" in a vacuum. 

Further, the Bering Court already rejected the "extension" the 

Fergusons purportedly sought on appeal. Pet. at 13. In Bering, the 

trial court entered findings supporting a permanent injunction, based on 

live testimony, affidavits, and photographs. 106 Wn.2d at 219-20. On 

appeal, SHARE asked this Court to "substitute its findings for those of 

the trial court because the trial court based its findings in part on 

affidavits and photographs." /d. at 220. This Court refused, 

distinguishing State v. Rowe, in which "the trial court's findings 
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stem[med] exclusively from the stipulation and attached standards 

rather than from the testimony of witnesses"4: 

Although this court is not necessarily bound by the trial court's 
findings when based solely upon written or graphic evidence, 
State v. Rowe, 93 Wn.2d 277,609 P.2d 1348 (1980), the trial 
court in this case also considered considerable live testimony 
during a daylong show cause hearing. Accordingly, because 
the rule enunciated in State v. Rowe, supra, does not apply, 
this court must affirm the trial court's findings if supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(/d. at 220-21). 

Bering does not support the Ferguson's position. Together, 

Rowe and Bering provide that appellate courts must defer to 

findings supported by substantial evidence unless they are based 

"solely upon written or graphic evidence." /d. Bering makes clear that 

the rule enunciated in Rowe does not apply where, as here, the court 

also hears live testimony. /d. 

The Fergusons' reliance on Scott v. Harris is similarly 

misplaced. Pet. at 16 (citing 550 U.S. 372; 127 S. Ct. 1769; 167 L. 

Ed. 2d 686 (2007). In Scott, the Court relied on videotape evidence 

to reverse an order denying summary judgment. 550 U.S. at 380-81. 

But since the matter was decided on summary judgment, no findings 

were entered -or testimony taken. /d. Scott is inapposite. 

4 Rowe, supra, at 280. 
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apply: 

In sum, the appellate court correctly held that Bering does not 

In this case, the trial court heard extensive testimony. It clearly 
did not rely solely on written or graphic evidence. It clearly 
found that the photographs were susceptible to more than one 
interpretation. It clearly relied on the testimony and weighed 
the credibility of the witnesses and their testimony. 
Accordingly, Bering's rule is inapplicable to this case. 

Unpub. Op. at 11. Since the appellate court held that the findings are 

supported by substantial evidence (unchallenged here), it correctly 

affirmed./d. at 11-14. This is consistent with Bering and Rowe- and 

scores of other cases. 

4. The appellate majority awarded fees under RAP 
18.9. (Pet. at 17 -19). 

The Fergusons argue that the appellate majority failed to 

apply Streater to the Fergusons' appeal "as a whole." Pet. at 17-18 

(citing Streater, 26 Wn. App. at 434-35). That is false. The appellate 

majority was well aware of the controlling law and correctly applied 

it. Unpub. Op. at 15-16. This Court should deny review. 

While the Fergusons now spend most of their time on Bering, 

it was barely mentioned on appeal. Supra, Argument§ B 3. Instead, 

the appeal did nothing more than challenge findings that were 

supported by substantial evidence. Unpub. Op. at 16. What made 

the appeal frivolous was that in addition to being entirely factual, the 
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challenges to the findings were prefaced on the Fergusons' request 

that the court "reweigh the evidence and reevaluate the credibility of 

witnesses"- both tasks that appellate courts do not perform. /d. The 

Fergusons failed to adequately argue their only other assignment of 

error, a point they do not contest. /d. Thus, the Fergusons' appeal 

was "so devoid of merit that there [was] no reasonable possibility of 

reversal." Unpub. Op. at 15 (quoting Advocates for Responsible 

Dev. v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 170 Wn.2d 577, 580, 

245 P.3d 764 (2010)). 

The appellate 'majority addressed the controlling law on fee 

awards under RAP 18.9. /d. at 15-16. It applied the law to the only 

two arguments the Fergusons raised. /d. at 16. Nothing more is 

required. 

As discussed above, Judge Bjorgen's dissent on the fee 

award is not a basis for setting it aside. Pet. at 18-19. There is no 

legal support for the Fergusons' suggestion that a fee award under 

RAP 18.9 requires unanimity, and cases from this Court and the 

appellate court demonstrate otherwise. Supra, Argument§ A. 

And the Fergusons misconstrue the law in suggesting that a 

dissent means that "reasonable minds actually did differ." Pet. at 19. 

The issue is whether the Fergusons' appeal presented "debatable 
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issues upon which reasonable minds might differ." Unpub. Op. at 15 

(quoting Advocates, 170 Wn.2d at 580). The appellate court 

unanimously rejected the "issues" the appeal presented. 

Finally, a fee award under RAP 18.9 does not present an 

issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. 

Pet. at 19. Fee awards for a frivolous appeal are exceedingly rare. 

And the appellate court's unpublished decision has no precedential 

value. It is simply incorrect to suggest that the decision will effect a 

significant portion of the public. /d. 

C. The Court should award fees for responding to the 
petition. 

RAP 18.1 U) permits this Court to award fees incurred in 

preparing the answer to a petition for review where the appellate 

court awards fees to the prevailing party and. this Court subsequently 

denies the petition for review. Manary v. Anderson, 176 Wn.2d 342, 

362, 292 P.3d 96 (2013). Fees are appropriate where the McKenzies 

are forced to continue litigating the Fergusons' frivolous claims. A fee 

award would also be consistent with the statutory amendment 

allowing the courts to award fees to prevailing parties in adverse 

possession cases filed on or after July 1, 2012. RCW 7.28.083(3). 
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CONCLUSION 

The appellate decision is entirely consistent with decisions 

from this Court and the Court of Appeals, and presents no questions 

of significant public interest. This Court should deny review.